IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2011-CP-00376-COA

RODNEY HILLS

OCT - 5 2011 OTHES Of the Clerk Supreme Court Cetal of Apposts

APPELLANT

10.

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

barrey Reils BY:

Rodney Mills, #R0986 MCCF P. O. Box 528 Columbia, MS 39429

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER PORTION OF THE INDICTMENT, CHARGING HILLS AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISS. CODE ANN. §99-19-81, AS WELL AS THE ORDER WHICH FOUND HILLS TO BE A HABITUAL OFFENDER, AND THE PROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED THEREIN, IS DEFECTIVE AND VOID WHERE THE INDICTMENT, ORDER, AND PROCEEDINGS, FAIL TO DEFINE ALLEGE OR CHARGE, THAT THE DATES PROVIDED IN THE INDICTMENT WERE THE DATES OF "JUDGMENT" WHICH MAKES THE INDICTMENT A VOID INSTRUMENT ON THAT POINT.¹ SUCH FAILURE CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR BY VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS OF THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE 3, SEC. 14 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

¹ Rule 11.03(1) of the Miss. Unif Rules of Cty. and Cir. Court Practice requires that the indictment allege the dates provided as being the dates of judgment, not dates of conviction or sentencing. Where the indictment fail to contain this language then it fails to set forth an element required for charging habitual status. The rule do not allow the state to substitute date of "judgment" with date of "conviction" or "sentencing'. The rule contains mandatory language on this point.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER HILLS WAS SUBJECTED TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AT THE TIME OF THE TRIAL AND DURING SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT, WHEN HIS ATTORNEY FAILED TO OBJECT AND ALLOWED THE HABITUAL PORTION OF THE INDICTMENT TO BE FILED AND ALLOWED THE COURT TO ENTER AN ORDER APPROVING SUCH SENTENCE SENTENCING IN EACH PRIOR CONVICTION, WHERE SUCH INDICTMENT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH LAW IN SETTING OUT THE DATES OF JUDGMENT AND SENTENCING IN EACH PRIOR CONVICTION, IN VIOLATION OF HIS 6TH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

ISSUE THREE

THAT THE CLAIM REGARDING SENTENCING CONSTITUTES A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS IN SENTENCING AND PLAIN ERROR AND CANNOT BE SUBJECTED TO A PROCEDURAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections and assigned to the Marion County Correctional Facility in Columbia, Mississippi, in service of the prison term imposed. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition of sentence by trial court.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Rodney Hills was indicted on May 28, 2008, in the Fourteenth Judicial District County Court of Pike County, Mississippi for the offense of UNLAWFUL sale of a COCAINE within 1500 feet of a church. Hills was also charged as a habitual offender

Appellant, while represented by Honorable Matt Baldridge, entered a plea of guilty to such charges and was sentenced by the Court to a term of 16 years, as a habitual offender. (R. 6)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The correct standard of review in this appeal is the clearly erroneous standard.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The indictment and proceedings in this case subjected Appellant to a denial of due process of law where the judgment date of the prior convictions is an essential element that must be listed in the indictment of the habitual charge in order to exercise enhanced sentencing. Franklin v. State, 766 So.2d 16 (Miss. App. 2000). The requirements of certainty and particularity in indictments is directed at the values of fair notice to the accused, the avoidance of subjecting the accused to double jeopardy and enabling the accused to defend. Jackson v. State, 450 So.2d 1081 (Miss. 1984). The indictment in this case fail to comply with Rule 11.03(1), a valid rule of law in Mississippi. The sentence imposed as a result there is an illegal sentence as well as a denial of due process where the court had no jurisdiction to proceed upon a fatally defective indictment by the indictments' failure to contain the essential elements for the enhancement of the sentence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

THE HABITUAL OFFENDER PORTION OF THE INDICTMENT, CHARGING HILLS AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER UNDER MISS. CODE ANN. §99-19-81, AS WELL AS THE ORDER WHICH FOUND HILLS TO BE A HABITUAL OFFENDER, AND THE PROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED THEREIN, IS DEFECTIVE AND VOID WHERE THE INDICTMENT, ORDER, AND PROCEEDINGS, FAIL TO DEFINE ALLEGE OR CHARGE, THAT THE DATES PROVIDED IN THE INDICTMENT WERE THE DATES OF "JUDGMENT" WHICH MAKES THE INDICTMENT A VOID INSTRUMENT ON THAT POINT.² SUCH FAILURE CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR BY VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS OF THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE 3, SEC. 14 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

The habitual portion of the indictment, which charges Hills as a

habitual offender, provides the following:

The Grand Jurors of the State of Mississippi, taken from the body of good and lawful citizens of said county, elected, summoned, empaneled, sworn and charged to inquire in and for the body of the county aforesaid, at the term aforesaid, of the court aforesaid, in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi, upon their oaths present that RODNEY TIRREL HILLS and SANDRA

² Rule 11.03(1) of the Miss. Unif Rules of Cty. and Cir. Court Practice requires that the <u>indictment allege</u> the dates provided as being the dates of judgment, not dates of conviction or sentencing. Where the indictment fail to contain this language then it fails to set forth an element required for charging habitual status. The rule do not allow the state to substitute date of "judgment" with date of "conviction" or "sentencing'. The rule contains mandatory language on this point.

PEAVY, late of county aforesaid, on or about February 13, 2007, in Pike County, Mississippi, and within the jurisdiction of this court, did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and knowingly sell at least one tenth (0.1) gram but less than two (2) grams of cocaine, a controlled substance, to one confidential informant, for money, contrary to and in violation of Section 41-29-139 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, the above-described sale of cocaine having then and there occurred within one thousand five hundred (1,500) feet of that certain Trinity Baptist Church, located in McComb, Pike County, Mississippi, and because of the proximity of said sale of cocaine to a church, the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS and SANDRA PEAVY are subject to the enhanced penalty provisions of Section 41-29-142 of the Mississippi Code of 1972; and that on May 16, 1997, the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS pled guilty in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, to the crime of "Unlawful Possession of Cocaine," a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi, in Cause Number 15,372-13, and was sentenced on May 16, 1997, by the Court to serve a term of two and one hal (years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, said sentence being of record at Minute Book NNN at page 442, in the office of the clerk of said Court; and that on May 16, 1997, the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS pled guilty in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, to the crime of "Unlawful Possession of Cocaine," a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi, in Cause Number 15,380-B, and was sentenced by the Court to serve a term of two and one half years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, said sentence being of record at Minute Book NNN at page 452; and because of the said prior convictions of the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS under a statute of Mississippi relating to controlled substances, the defendant is included

within the enhanced punishment provision of Section 41-29-147 of the Mississippi Code of 1972;

And, also the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS having heretofore been convicted twice of felonies upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and for which felonies he was sentenced to separate terms of one year or more in a penal institution of the State of Mississippi, to-wit: on May 16, 1997, the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS pled guilty in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, to the crime of "Unlawful Possession of Cocaine," a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi, in Cause Number 15,372-B, and was sentenced on May 16, 1997, by the Court to serve a term of two and one half years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, said sentence being of record at Minute Book NNN at page 442, in the office of the clerk of said Court; and that on May 16, 1997, the said RODNEY TIRR EL HILLS pled guilty in the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi, to the crime of "Unlawful Possession of Cocaine," a felony under the laws of the State of Mississippi, in Cause Number 15,380-B, and was sentenced by the Court to serve a term of two and one half years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, said sentence being of record at Minute Book NNN at page 452; and because of said prior felony convictions, the said RODNEY TIRREL HILLS is an habitual criminal within the meaning of Section 99-19-81 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, this being count one of the indictment;

The habitual portion of the indictment filed against Hills on May 28, 2008, by the State of Mississippi clearly failed to meet the requirements of law and created plain error in its attempt to charge Hills as a habitual

offender. The indictment never mentioned nor set out the dates of "judgment" in each of the prior convictions. Reading the indictment it is charges made in the indictment fail to allege any date of clear that "JUDGMENT". While the indictment alleges that Hills was sentenced on a certain date, May 16, 1997, in the prior conviction, it fails to allege that date as being the date of judgment. The rule requires that this be defined as exactly that. Hills did not waive the indictment. . The state used this non-compliant statement of allegations against Hills to forfeit many years of Hill's life.. The trial court approved this procedure without reference or comment. There was no finding in the Order as to whether the habitual portion of the indictment, where the state alleged "he was sentenced on May 16, 1997" rather then the date of judgment as required by law. This cannot be disputed.

On February 26, 2009, the trial court, as a routine procedure, sentenced Hills to 16 years as a habitual offender without finding that Hills had two previous judgments where he had been sentenced to one year or more on each to a state or federal penal institution. The trial court merely imposed the sentence without any finding on this point. Such sentencing, under these circumstances ad facts, should be void. Such sentence was rendered upon the basis of a tainted indictment which did not comply with

the mandates of law. Certainly the trial court should have placed more emphasis upon the taking of many years of Hills' life then to not impose such a severe term without a proper written finding. The indictment does allege the "date of the prior sentencing" but says nothing in regards to the dates of the JUDGMENT which, could be two different dates. As a matter of law, the state was obligated to allege the dates judgment of previous convictions as part of its proof.

The Sentencing Order provides the following:

Came the District Attorney who prosecutes for the State and the defendant, Rodney Tirrel Hills, in his own proper person and represented by counsel, who on a former day of a prior term of Circuit Court had entered plea of GUILTY to a charge of <u>Unlawful Possession of at Least One Tenth (0.1) But Less</u> Than Two (2) Grams of Cocaine (Count One) and Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine (Count Two) and the Court had accepted said Guilty plea. It is therefore considered by the Court and so Ordered and Adjudged that the said defendant for such his crime of <u>Unlawful Possession of at Least One Tenth (0.1) But Less Than</u> Two (2) Grams of Cocaine (Count One) and Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine (Count Two) be sentenced into the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for and during the space of SIXTEEN (16) YEARS ON COUNT ONE AS AN HABITUAL CRIMINAL PURSUANT TO SECTION 99-19-81 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972 TO SERVE WITHOUT POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE, PROBATION, OR EARLY RELEASE.

The trial court, in the Order imposing the sentence, never mentioned the date of the alleged JUDGMENT or the date of sentencing, nor the Court and Jurisdiction of the prior convictions. There was no plea, waiver, or admission in this case. Said actions clearly amounted to plain error and was never waived by Hills. The evidence demonstrates that Hills was never advised nor noticed at any time as to the alleged dates of judgment in the prior convictions. The indictment and sentencing order is constitutionally and statutorily faulty.

The law on this issue dictates that the state failed to follow the law by failing to allege and prove the date of JUDGMENT in each of the prior conviction. The law requires this allegation be made by the state. <u>Ard v.</u> State, 403 So.2d 875, 876 (Miss. 1981).

In Ard the Supreme Court held that:

It is readily seen that the indictment does not meet the requirements of the statute as interpreted in Usry in that it does not state the court in which he was convicted, the date of the judgment, the nature or the description of the offense for which he was convicted, nor that he was sentenced to serve "one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere...."

Ard v. State, 403 So.2d 875, 876 (Miss. 1981).

In <u>Watson v. State</u>, 921 So.2d 741, 743 (Miss. 1974) the Court held that the indictment must substantially set forth the date of judgment of the prior judgment and the nature and description of the offense constituting the previous convictions. Also see <u>Benson v. State</u>, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss. 1989).

In addition to case law, Petitioner would point out that Rule 11.03,

Miss. Unif. Crim. R. Cir. Court Pra. provides the following relevant:

In cases involving enhanced punishment for subsequent offenses under state statutes, including but not limited to, the Habitual Criminal Statute, Miss. Code Ann. Sections 99-19-81 and 99-19-83 and the uniform Controlled Substances Law, Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-147:

(1) The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege with particularity the nature or description of the offenses constituting the previous conviction, and the date of judgment.³

Rule 11.03 (1) has the force and effect of a statute where it is a rule of law adopted by the Miss. Supreme Court.

This Court should find that the indictment failed, in its language, to comply with the statute where it does not specifically allege the date of JUDGMENT but sets out the date of conviction. Judgments are entered after the conviction date and are two different instruments. The Sentencing Order entered by the Court never mentioned nor referred to the date of JUDGMENT as required by law. The sentencing Order therefore failed to cure the defect on the subject of the habitual offender status where the instrument failed to comply with the requirements of law as set forth under rule 11.03(1) of the Miss. Unif. Rules of County and Cir. Court practice. Moreover, if the indictment and order was defective, which it was according to law, then the enhancement of the sentence on the basis of this defective indictment and sentencing order should be voided. Hills v. State, 561 So.2d 1037, 1039 (Miss. 1990); Ormoud v. State, 599 So.2d

³ This rule specifically requires date of "judgment" as opposed to date of "conviction". The inclusion of conviction in the rule requires that the indictment include both the principal charge and a charge of previous conviction. It do not ask for date of previous conviction but only the date of judgment. Conviction and judgment and sentence are often carried out on separate dates.

951, 963 (Miss. 1992); <u>Vance v. State</u>, 844 So.2d 510, 516-17 (Miss. App. 2003).

Finally, in conclusion of this initial ground, Hills would assert here that the real question before this court and one which this court must consider is, when fundamental constitutional rights are at stake, such as the indictment, would Hills be entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Hills should have been entitled to such to determine why the indictment was not amended and why his attorney never objected. There is a constitutional right, not to be tried for a felony without being properly indicted for that felony? MCA §99-39-5(1)(b); MS Art. III, 27; 5th Amendment.) (The trial court, in all due respect, did in deed lack jurisdiction to convict or impose said sentence, due to Hill's fatally defective indictment.) (This court in reviewing Hill's claim is required to open the gates and Rule on the merits of Hill's claims. Smith v. State, 725 So.2d 922, 927 (Miss. 1998); (Quick v. State, 569 So.2d 1197 (Miss. 1990).

ISSUE TWO

HILLS WAS SUBJECTED TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL AND DURING SENTENCING PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT, IN VIOLATION OF HIS 6TH AMENDMENT RIGHTS THE TO UNITED AND STATES CONSTITUTION THE THE STATE CONSTITUTION **OF** OF MISSISSIPPI.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel the defendant must satisfy the well-established two prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). First the party must show that counsel's performance was objectively deficient. Then the party must show that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. <u>Gilliard v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985).

It is clear that Hills was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to raise the issue outlined here as well as the many other deficiencies set forth in this case. Defense counsel did not object to the proof on it's face of the prior convictions nor raise to the Court that the indictment did not comply with Rule 11.03(1).

This Court should conclude that here counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel and that such ineffectiveness prejudiced Hills by counsel not raising the issue of the indictment not quoting the word Judgment but using conviction. This failure of Hills' attorney effected the state's ability to bring Hills to trial as a habitual offender. Counsel did not challenge the habitual portion of the indictment on it's face. Moreover, counsel failed to challenge the procedural elements used by the State in

the language of the indictment. In Mississippi a Judgment is totally different from the conviction. Defense counsel was charged with knowing the law and being familiar with the record and evidence.

Hills sentence as a habitual offender was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel in the trial court. The sentence imposed upon Hills as a result of such conviction was illegal where the state failed to come forward with a proper indictment and the Court erred in accepting what the state presented. This Court should grant the post conviction relief indictment in this case and vacated the habitual portion of the indictment which was the result of the amendment.

The defense attorney sentencing order which has been demonstrated by Appellant in his previous ground as being an error of law.

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 815 So. 2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Supreme Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). This review is highly deferential to the attorney, with a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. at 965. With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's choice of whether or not to file certain motions, call witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss.1995).

[7] [8] [9] \P 9. Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80

L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss.1988).

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