IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RODNEY HILLS APPELLANT

VS. NO. 2011-CP-0376-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that the trial court found that the appellant was properly sentenced with more than adequate documentation as an Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender. C.P. 47-48. The court found that the indictment stated with "clarity and particularity" the separate felony drug offenses for which the appellant had previously been convicted on separate occasions and for which he had been sentenced to serve "separate terms of a year of more" in prison. C.P. 2-6; 47-48.

The record also reflects that the appellant and his experienced counsel admitted under oath, based upon discovery and abundant documentation, that the appellant did qualify for enhanced sentencing as a M. C.A. Sect. 99-19-81 "habitual offender." R. 7; 16.

The record reflects that the appellant acknowledged under oath that he knew he was pleading guilty as a M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender to two specific possession of cocaine with intent to distribute offenses which occurred on two separate occasions. R. 1-25; 16.

The record reflects the indictment stated with clarity and particularity the prior felony convictions which qualified the appellant for enhanced sentencing. C.P. 2-5. Mitchell v. State 58 So.3d 59, 61 -62, (Miss. Ct. App. 2011); and Benson v. State, 551 So. 2d 188, 195 (Miss. 1989).

2. The record reflects that the appellant received effective assistance of counsel. The appellant is serving two concurrent sixteen year sentences instead of consecutive sentences for ten different felony convictions. R. 20-24. His counsel negotiated a very favorable sentence which included the dropping of two of the charges. R. 12. The record reflects that the appellant admitted that he was "satisfied" with the services provided by his counsel. R. 5.

The appellant admitted that he was guilty of the two possession of cocaine with conspiracy to distribute crimes. He did not take issue with the prosecution's statement of the facts it was prepared to prove in the event of a trial. R. 12.

The appellant and his counsel did not object or take issue with the prosecution's statement of or documentation for the appellant's prior offenses which qualified him for enhanced sentencing. R. 7; 20-24. **Hannah v. State**, 943 So 2d 20, 24 (¶ 6)(Miss. 2006); **Mohr v. State**, 584 So. 2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991).

3. The record reflects that the appellant received due process of law. His indictment stated with clarity and particularity his numerous prior felony convictions. C.P. 2-5. He was given discovery, as well as an experienced guilty plea counsel and a separate sentencing hearing with documentation about his prior felony sentences.

The appellant admitted that he was guilty of having committed these drug possession with conspiracy to distribute felonies. He did not take issue with the prosecution's statement as to the time, dates, nature of the felony and the fact that the appellant was "separately sentenced to serve a year or more" on each of those previously committed felony crimes which were committed at separate times and places. **Rose v. Clark**, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460, 471, 106 S. Ct. 3101 (1986).

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD INDICATES THAT HILLS KNOWINGLY PLED GUILTY AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER TO THE SAME FELONIES LISTED IN HIS INDICTMENT WITH FACTUAL SPECIFICITY.

Mr. Hills argues that his M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender sentence was improperly imposed and should be vacated. It should be vacated because his indictment did not include the date of judgments for his previous felonies as required by Rule 11.03(1) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court, "the URCCC." Hill argues that this was plain error, and that he received illegal sentences which should be vacated. Appellant's pro se brief page 1-14.

The record reflects that Hills' indictment stated with particularity the nature of the offenses constituting the previous convictions. The record reflects that the indictment also stated the sentencing dates and accompanying orders for the appellant's numerous prior felony drug convictions in Pike County as well as the book and page numbers in the records of the Circuit Court Clerk where the separate sentences of a year of more could be found. C.P. 2-7.

In **Mitchell v. State** 58 So.3d 59, 61 -62 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011), the Court relied upon **Benson v. State**, 551 So. 2d 188, 195 (Miss. 1989). The Court found that although the dates of judgments of the prior felonies were not included in the indictment, that there was sufficient specific information as to the nature, description, the court, the cause numbers of the prior felonies and the actual specific orders giving separate sentences of a year or more given for each felony conviction. This was sufficient to put the appellant on notice to defend himself should there have been any problem with this public information.

¶ 10. In accord with **Benson**, we find in the instant case that even though the date of judgment for each prior conviction was not provided in the amendment to Mitchell's indictment, all the information contained therein afforded Mitchell access to the date

of judgment. The amendment provides the nature and description of each prior felony conviction; it indicates the court in which each conviction was adjudicated; it states the sentence given by the court for each conviction and that Mitchell served one year

or more for each sentence; and it provides the cause number for each case.

¶ 11. All this fairly enabled Mitchell to defend against the State's habitual-offender

charge if Mitchell so chose. Mitchell did not.

¶ 12. As previously mentioned, Mitchell told the circuit court that he knew and understood he was pleading guilty as a habitual offender. And Mitchell indicated to the circuit court that he knew the State would recommend a ten-year sentence to the

court. This issue is without merit.

In addition, the record indicated that the appellant indicated under oath that he knew he was

pleading guilty under a plea agreement as a M.C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender based upon

the aforesaid enumerated separate felonies. R. 16.

The record indicates that Hills stated under oath that he was pleading guilty as a M. C.A.

Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender. He pled guilty specifically to 08-262-PKS, for possession of .1-2

grams of cocaine and conspiracy to distribute and specifically to O8-266-PKS, for possession of 2-

10 grams of cocaine and conspiracy to distribute as a M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender R.

16.

Court: In 08-262-PKS, to the offense of possession of .1-2 grams of cocaine,

enhanced by a prior conviction as 19-81 habitual criminal?

Defendant: Guilty, Your Honor.

Court: In 08-264-PKS...

Byrd: I'm sorry, Your Honor. Also in 262 there is conspiracy as well.

Court: I'm sorry, as well as conspiracy in 262.

Defendant: Guilty, Your Honor.

Court: in 08-264-PKS, to the offense of sale of cocaine?

Defendant: Guilty, Your Honor.

Court: In 08-266-PKS, to the offense of possession of 2-10 grams of cocaine as a

9

19-81 habitual criminal?

Defendant: Guilty, Your Honor. R. 16. (Emphasis by appellee).

The record reflects that the trial court found that Hills' pleas were "knowingly, freely, voluntarily and intelligently entered." R. 16-17. The appellant admitted that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. He admitted that he knew he was waiving his Constitutional rights to a trial by jury with cross examination, and a right against self incrimination.

The appellant admitted knowing the maximum sentences for his numerous drug related offenses as well as the recommended sentences being offered in a plea agreement with the prosecution. This included the dropping of two of the ten felony drug charges. R. 1-25.

And crucially for the appellant's argument on appeal, the record cited indicates that the appellant's experienced counsel stated under oath that based upon discovery, he believed that the appellant qualified for enhanced sentencing as a M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender. R. 7.

Court: And for the record, I know it's going to be put on the record, but is there any question, Mr. Baldridge or Mr. Byrd, that Mr. Hills does, in fact, qualify as a 19-81 habitual?

Byrd: No, Your Honor. He was indicted as such and copies of the prior sentencing orders have been attached. None by the state, your Honor.

Baldridge: No objection to the 19-81. (Emphasis by appellee).

After the trial court advised and questioned both Hill and his counsel, he found with record support that his guilty pleas were voluntarily and intelligently entered with a factual basis for his plea. R. 16. The record clearly indicates, as found by the trial court, that the previous felonies for which the appellant was separately sentenced to serve a year or more were stated with clarity and particularity.

This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II.

HILLS RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The appellant argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. He argues that he did not receive effective assistance because his trial counsel did not raise with the trial court the fact that the indictment against him did not include a separate statement of the dates of judgment against him as required by the requisite Rule 11.09 of the URCCC dealing with enhanced punishment for a defendant. Appellant's brief page 14-18.

As stated above, the record reflects that the appellant's indictment included the date, nature of the prior felony convictions, the court and the book and page number where the sentencing orders for each of the numerous prior drug related separate felony conviction for which he was sentenced to serve a year or more could be found. C. P. 2-5. In addition, as shown with cites to the record his counsel admitted that the prosecution had provided sufficient documentation for establishing that the appellant qualified for enhanced sentenced. R.7.

It was upon this basis that the trial court found that the appellant had knowingly and intelligently pled guilty before the trial court as a M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender. R. 16-17.

The record reflects the appellant admitted under oath that he knew that he was waiving his right to a jury trial, and that he knew the maximum sentences which he could receive by pleading guilty as well as the recommended sentences being offered by the prosecution. This included not sentencing him to the maximum, as well as retiring two of the ten drug charges, and not running all of his sentences consecutively. R. 1-24.

For the appellant to be successful in his ineffective assistance claim, he must satisfy the two-pronged test set forth in **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064-65.

80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984) and adopted by this Court in **Stringer v. State**, 454 So. 2d 468, 476-477 (Miss. 1984). Hill must prove: (1) that his counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that this supposed deficient performance prejudiced his defense.

The burden of proving both prongs rests with the appellant. McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Finally, the appellant must show that there is a reasonable probability that but for the errors of his counsel, the sentences of the trial court would have been different. Nicolau v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992), Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

The second prong of the **Strickland v. Washington**,, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) is to determine whether there is a reasonable probability that but for the alleged errors of his counsel, the result of the appellant's guilty plea would have been different. This is to be determined from "the totality of the circumstances" involved in his case.

The appellee would submit that the record does not indicate that trial counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." **Hannah v State**, 943 So 2d 20, 24 (¶6)(Miss. 2006). There was also no evidence that but for the alleged unprofessional conduct the result of the proceeding would have been different.

Appellee would submit that based upon the record we have cited, there is a lack of evidence for holding that there is a reasonable probability that trial counsel erred in assisting the appellant in pleading guilty to two counts of possession of controlled substance and conspiracy to distribute as an 99-19-81 habitual offender.

The prior felony convictions and separate sentences were well documented. They were clearly stated in the indictment and guilty plea counsel admitted along with Hills that the appellant did qualify for enhanced sentencing.

As stated in Strickland: and quoted in Mohr v. State, 584 So. 2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991):

Under the first prong, the movant 'must show that the counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Here there is a strong presumption of competence. Under the second prong, the movant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.' The defendant must prove both prongs of the test. <u>Id</u>. 698.

The record reflects the appellant stated under oath that he was "satisfied with the services" provided by his counsel. R. 5. The appellee would submit that the record reflects effective assistance of counsel. As a result of his counsel's representation, the appellant is enjoying two sixteen year concurrent sentences. R. 20-22.

This is much less than what he could have received, given the evidence against the appellant, his admissions of being guilty as charged and the fact that his sentences could have been run consecutively rather than concurrently. All of these sentences if run concurrent could have amounted to a very long sentence. The appellant's guilty plea counsel also negotiated an agreement which resulted in "counts three and four" of the ten charges being dropped. R. 13.

This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THE RECORD REFLECTS HILLS RECEIVED DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The appellant argues that he was denied due process of law. He was denied due process since he alleges that the dates of judgments for his numerous prior convictions were not included in his indictment, and/or at his sentencing hearing. The appellant faults not only the Grand Jury, but also his trial counsel and the trial court for this alleged confusing sentencing situation. Appellant's brief page 18-25.

To the contrary, as shown with cites to the record under previous propositions, the record reflects that the appellant was placed on notice as the nature of his previous drug convictions, as well as the dates, times, and nature of the possession of cocaine and conspiracy to distribute cocaine crimes for which he was pleading guilty as an M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual offender. The record reflects that the indictment also included the court, the date of sentencing, the cause numbers, the book and page number where the appellant's previous numerous sentencing orders could be found. The record reflects that his counsel was provided copies of "the Orders of Sentencing." R. 7.

In **Rose v. Clark**, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460, 471, 106 S. Ct. 3101 (1986), the Court stated that if an appellant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator there was s a "strong presumption" that he received a fair trial. Any error which might have occurred would be merely considered harmless error.

Accordingly, if the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless error analysis. The thrust of the many constitutional rules governing the conduct of criminal trials is to ensure that those trials lead to fair and correct judgments. When a reviewing court can find that the record developed at trial establishes guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, the interest in fairness has been satisfied and the judgment should be affirmed. As we have repeatedly stated, "the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." **Delaware v Van Arsdall**, 475 US, at 682, 89 L Ed 2d 674, 106 S Ct 1431; **United States v**

Hasting, supra, at 508-509, 76 L. Ed 2d 96, 103 S Ct 1974.

This issue is also lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed for the reasons cited in this brief. The appellant's two concurrent sentences as a M. C. A. Sect. 99-19-81 habitual criminal should be affirmed, as found by the trial court.